Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1964

Thorp Finance Corp. v. F. M. Wright and Alice J. Wright: Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

ARGUMENT POINT I.

AN ILLEGAL ACT CANNOT BECOME THE BASIS OF A VALID CONSIDERATION FOR THE SALE OR

TRANSFER OF PROPERTY, EVEN THOUGH THE ACT IS MERELY MALUM PROHIBITUM AND NO RECOVERY CAN BE HAD FOR BREACH OF SUCH CONTRACT.

77 C. J. S., PAGE 719:

"In general.

"A sales contract in violation of positive law ordinarily is unenforcable for illegality.

"The general rule that an agreement in violation of positive law is illegal and ordinarily unenforcable applies to sales and this is true even though the illegal act is merely malum prohibitum."

NEIL v. UTAH WHOLESALE GROCERY, Supreme Court of Utah, 210 P 201, 61 Ut. 22:

"This serious question is the contention of the appellant that the contract is void and unenforceable. It conclusively appears that the respondent has failed to obtain a license authorizing him to engage in the business of selling sugar as a wholesale merchant during the second period covered by the contract.

"Section 5 (U. S. Comp. St. 1918, U. S. Comp. St. Ann. Supp. 1919 S 3115 1/8g), under the title "conservation of Supply and Control of Distribution of Necessaries," provides that the President, whenever it is "essential to license the importation **or distribution of any necessaries, in order to carry into effect any of the purposes of this act, shall publicly so announce," and that "no persons shall, after a date fixed in the announcement, engage in or carry on any business specified therein unless he shall secure and hold a license issued pursuant to this." It is also provided in that section that any person convicted of distributing such necessaries as are set forth in the announcement without a license shall, upon conviction, be pun-

ished by a fine not exceeding \$5,000.00, or by imprisonment of not more than two years, or both. It is further provided that the limitations or restrictions shall not be applicable to retailers. A retailer is defined as any one engaged in distributing the articles mentioned in the proclamation whose annual sales do not exceed the sum of \$100,000. The act does not in express terms state that a contract made in violation of its provisions shall be void.

- "(3) The preamble of the act as quoted states that it is for the purpose of effectually providing for the national security and defense in carrying on the war with a foreign country. ***Every reason for, and every purpose sought by, the enactment would indicate that it was the intent of Congress that any one making contracts in violation of the terms of the act should be without a remedy. It would be strange indeed if the Congress of the United States by the legislation in question, enacted as it was during the time of a great war, and having for its purpose the national security and defense, should be held to only intend that persons making contracts in violation of that legislation should have access to the civil courts for the enforcement of the penalties of such contracts. It should be remembered that the act was in no sense a revenue measure such as the act of Congress considered by the Massachusetts Supreme Court in Larned v. Andrews, 106 Mass. 436, 8 Am. Rep. 346, and other cases cited by respondent.
- "(4) The contract in question here, in our judgment, was an illegal contract, and not enforceable. The right of recovery necessarily must bring into consideration this illegal contract. Courts will not enforce such contracts. In Pullman's Car Co. v. Transportation Co., 171 U. S. at page 151, 18 Sup. Ct. at page 813 (43 L. Ed. 108) the court says: "They (the courts) are

substantially unanimous in expressing the view that in no way and through no channels, directly or indirectly, will the courts allow an action to be maintained for the recovery of property delivered under an illegal contract where, in order to maintain such recovery, it is necessary to have recourse to that contract. The right of recovery must rest upon a disaffirmance of the contract, and it is permitted only because of the desire of courts to do justice as far as possible to the party who has made payment or delivered property under a void agreement, and which injustice he ought to recover. But courts will not in such endeavor permit any recovery which will weaken the rule founded upon the principles of public policy already noticed."

Section 41-3-3 Utah Code Annotated, 1953, states:

"41-3-3. Penalties for violation of act — No action or right of action to recover any such motor vehicle, or any part of the selling price thereof shall be maintained in the Courts of this state by any such dealer or vendor, his successors or assigns, in any case wherein such vendor or dealer shall have failed to comply with the terms and provisions of this act, and such vendor or dealer, upon conviction for the violation of any of the provisions of this act shall be deemed guilty of a misdemeanor and shall be punished by a fine of not more than \$299 or by imprisonment for not more than six months in the county jail or by both fine and imprisonment."

When a statute is clear and unambiguous as the one above, the courts have the duty of following its clear and unambiguous language.

PRICE v. TUTTLE: Supreme Court of Utah, 258 P 1016, 70 Utah 156.

Page 1017: "In the construction of statutes it is the duty of courts to ascertain the intent of the legislative body and, if the legislation is within the constitutional power of the legislature, to enforce that intent. In determining the intent of legislation not only the language of the act may be considered, but the purposes or objects sought by the legislature should be and are considered by the Courts indetermining legislative intent."

There is no question that Mr. Dannenbaum is a "dealer or vendor" under the provisions of Title 41-3-4, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, which reads as follows:

"41-3-4, Terms defined. — The terms, dealer" and "vendor", herein used shall be construed to include every individual, partnership, corporation or trust whose business in whole or in part is that of selling new or used motor vehicles and likewise shall be construed to include every agent, representative or consignee of any such dealer as defined above as fully as if same had been herein expressly set out; provided, no agent, representative or consignee of such dealer or vendor shall be required to make and file the said bond if such dealer or vendor for whom such agent, representative or consignee acts fully complies in each instance with the provisions of this act."

Mr. Dannenbaum signed the contract giving his place of business as Grants, New Mexico. He brought the trailers in question into Utah from New Mexico and sold them as "used" "Motor Vehicles". None of said vehicles were registered with the State Tax Commission on a form to be provided by the Tax Commission or therwise. No bond was ever posted as provided by law and no license was ever obtained by him in this State.

In view of the authorities cited the only remaining question to be answered is whether or not the seven trailers sold in this instance are vehicles subject to the bonding and registration prevision of the Utah law and whether or not Mr. Dannenbaum was subject to the licensing provisions of the Utah law.

The contracts provide that the Utah law will govern and the contracts refer to the subject matter as "motor vehicles."

The Supreme Court of the State of Utah in the case of Sinclair Refining Company v. State Tax Commission, et al., 130 P 2d 663, 102 Ut 340, referring to matters to be taken into account in defermining legislative intent stated the guide line to be used as follows:

"... as to what may be included within such term in a statute depends upon its legislative environment. State of Ohio v. Helverian, 292 u. s. 360, 370; 54 S. Ct. 725; 78 L. Ed. 1307."

"The PURPOSE, the SUBJECT MATTER, the CONTECT, the LEGISLATIVE HISTORY and the EXECUTIVE INTERPRETATION of the statute are aids to construction which may indicate an intent, by the use of the term, to bring state or nation (or other body or person) within the scope of the law."

Analyzing the matters to be taken into account as outlined by the Utah Supreme we find:

(a) PURPOSE: The purpose of the act is the protection of the citizens of this state from non-resident dealers who seek to sell their vehicles in this state without complying with the provisions of the law which applies to resi-

dent dealers. In the words of the legislature itself the declared purpose of passing Title 41-3-1, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as follows:

"An act to regulate the business of selling used motor vehicles by dealers not residing in or having a permanent place of business in the State of Utah, and by resident dealers purchasing, handling and selling used motor vehicles received or acquired from non-resident dealers; requiring all used cars brought into the state for the purpose of sale to be registered with the State Tax Commission, all such dealers to execute and deliver to each purchaser of a used motor vehicle a bond indemnifying the purchaser against failure of title or breach of warranty or fraudulent misrepresentations, and the delivery of a certificate of title to the vendee; defining terms and providing penalties for the violation of the provisions of this act."

The declared purpose of Title 41-3-6, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, is as follows:

"An act providing for the regulation and control of the business of dealing in motor vehicles and the creation of the office of an administrator of the department of motor vehicles of the state of Utah; providing for the organizationl, licensing, examination, regulation and supervision of all dealers in motor vehicles both new and used engaged in the business of buying, selling or in any manner dealing in motor vehicles in the State of Utah; providing for an advisory counsel prescribing the powers, duties and functions and administration thereof."

"41-3-16. Dealer's Bond-Necessity-Filing-Amount-Sur-

ety-Form-Conditions-Maximum libility thereon. New Motor Vehicle Dealer's and Used Motor Vehicle Dealer's Bond: Before any new motor vehicle dealer's license or used motor vehicle dealer's license shall be issued by the administrator to any applicant therefor, the said applicant shall procure and file with the administrator a good and sufficient bond in the amount of (\$500.00) with corporate surety thereon, duly licensed to do business within the State of Utah, approved as to form by the attorney general of the State of Utah, and conditioned that said applicant shall conduct his business as a dealer without fraud or fraudulent representation, and without the violation of any of the provisions of this act. The bond may be continuous in form, and the total aggregate liability on the bond shall be limited to the payment of \$5000.00."

The Utah Supreme Court in the case of Clifford J. Lawrence v. J. Ray Ward et al, 300 P 2d 623, 5 Ut 2d 263, in referring to the license provisions stated:

- "... the bond was intended to protect all persons doing business with another in his capacity as a licensed motor vehicle dealer."
- (b) SUBJECT MATTER. The subject matter of the legislation in this case relates to the purchase and sale of house trailer titles which are handled exactly as car titles are handled. Surely there is no more reason for the legislature to protect its citizens from non-resident sellers of cars than to protect them from non-resident dealers of other vehicles. Surely the provisions of the Utah law and our Constitution which provide that no corporation organized outside of this state shall be allowed to transact business within this state, on conditions more favorable than those prescribed by law to similar corporations organized under

the laws of this state, applies equally to non-residents selling house trailers as well as to a non-resident dealer selling cars.

(c) CONTEXT. In studying the context of the statutes defining motor vehicles subject to the registration, licensing and bonding provisions of the motor vehicle division of the State Tax Commission it seems clear that it does and should include house trailers pulled into this state from New Mexico.

The Utah Statute defines a motor vehicle as follows:

- "(a) Title 41-3-7. Every vehicle intended primarily for use and operation on the public highways which is self-propelled; and every vehicle intended primarily for operation on the public highways which is not driven or propelled by its own power, but which is designated either to be attached to and become a part of, or to be drawn by a self propelled vehicle; but not including farm tractors and other machines and tools used in the production, harvesting and care of farm products.
- "(b) Small trailer: Every vehicle intended for use on the public highways which is not self-driven but which is designed to be attached or to be drawn by a motor vehicle, which has an unladen weight of not more than 750 lbs."
- "Title 41-1-19. Vehicles subject to registration. Every motor vehicle, combination of vehicles, trailer and semi-trailer, when driven or moved upon a highway shall be subject to the registration and certificate of title provisions of this act."

In reading the context of these statutes in the light of the declared intent of the legislature in passing the acts, namely to regulate the business of selling motor vehicles by dealers not residing in this state and for the regulation and control of the business of dealing in motor vehicles and providing for a means of licensing and supervising ALL dealers in the business of buying and selling or in any manner dealing in motor vehicles, it is apparent that the legislature intended to include house trailers. If it did not intend to include house trailers it could easily have included "house trailers" along with "farm tractors" as an exclusion. If it had not intended to include house trailers under the provisions of Title 41-1-19 as being a vehicle subject to the registration act it could have expressly excluded them from the generic term "trailers." If house trailers were intended to be excluded the machinery and mechanics of registering and titling them (same as cars) would not be necessary.

The Court was apparently disturbed by the words in Title 41-3-7, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, which defines a motor vehicle as every vehicle INTENDED PRIMARILY for use and operation on the highways. In studying the context of this definition the word "intended primarily" gives rise to the question of whose intent and whether the word "primarily" means AT THE BEGINNING or whether it means MOST OF THE TIME. It is clear that it was originally intended by Mr. Dannenbaum to bring the trailers into the state by pulling them here on Utah highways and if that intention was changed so that the trailers were given fixed locations, as found by the lower court, this intention would of necessity have been a state of mind of Mr. Wright, the Defendant, after he purchased the trailers, and should not relieve the out-of-state dealer

from complying with the provisions of the Utah law with respect to selling vehicles and should not relieve the outof-state dealer of the requirements of Utah law with respect too registration of titles in this state.

(d) LEGISLATIVE HISTORY: Title 41-3-1 Utah Code Annotated, 1953, requiring non-resident dealers to post a bond, and register motor vehicles in this state within ten days has been a law in its present form since 1937.

Title 41-3-6 Utah Code Annotated, 1953, requiring dealers and salesmen of new or used motor vehicles to procure a license from the motor vehicle dealers administration has been a Utah law in its present form since 1949.

Title 41-3-16 Utah Code Annotated, 1953, requiring all dealers to post a bond before receiving a license was enacted in 1949 and amended to its present form in 1961.

(e) EXECUTIVE INTERPRETATION: The Motor Vehicle Division of the State Tax Commission has at all times interpreted the words "motor vehicle" under the provisions of Title 41, relating to Dealers and Salesmen as including house trailers and has required persons selling or dealing in same to post the required bonds and obtain the required licenses.

It is admitted by the Plaintiff that Mr. Dannenbaum did not do any of these things nor did he comply with the registration provisions.

The Utah Supreme Court, on speaking of the interpretation given to statutes by the administrative agency administering same, has given its determination great weight.

UTAH POWER & LIGHT CO. v. PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION, 152 P 2d 542; 107 Utah 155, quoting the Utah Court, page 557.

"The proposition of law implicit in this argument is well settled. Consistent administrative interpretation over the years by the officers charged with the duty of applying the statute and making each part work efficiently and smoothly are entitled to great weight by the Courts. United States v. American Trucking Assn. 310 U. S. 534, 60 S. Ct. 1059. 1067; 84 L. 1345, 1356; State Board of Land Commissioners v. Rivie, 56, Utah 213, 190 P. 59; Mutart v. Pratt, 51 Utah 246, 170 P. 67; Decker v. New York Life Insurance Co., 94 Utah 1661, 76 P 2d 568; 115 A. L. R. 1377; Murdoch v. Mabey, 59 Utah, 346, 203 P. 651; in re Lambourne's Estate 97 Utah 393, P. 21 475."

(f) INTERPRETATION BY THE PARTIES TO THE AGREEMENT. It is also interesting to note that the parties themselves in the contract on a form provided by Seller refers to "motor vehivle." The contract on the first page in bold print states as follows:

"In Colorado only (strike word or words in parentheses which are not applicable) BUYER STATES THAT HE (HAS) (HAS NOT) IN EFFECT AN AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY POLICY ON THE MOTOR VEHICLE SOLD BY THIS CONTRACT."

Mr. Dannenbaum selected the forms on which the contracts were written and the Plaintiff in this action accepted assignments of them with full recourse.

In the construction of contracts the rules apply. 77. C. J. S., page 728:

1. 15.14

"In the construction of sales contracts, the intent of the parties, as gathered from pertinent facts and circumstances, generally governs. General rules apply to the construction of agreements between the Seller and the Buyer of personal property. The intent of the parties as expressed in the language used must govern in so far as it may be given effect without violating legal principles."

POINT II.

THE PLAINTIFF CORPORATION, AS ASSIGNEE OF A DEALER WHO SOLD HOUSE TRAILERS IN THE STATE OF UTAH WITHOUT POSTING THE BOND REQUIRED BY UTAH LAW CANNOT, UNDER THE UTAH LAW, MAINTAIN AN ACTION IN THE COURTS OF THIS STATE AND A FOREIGN CORPORATION PLAINTIFF, WHO HAS NEVER COMPLIED WITH THE PROVISIONS OF OUR LAW RELATIVE TO ITS QUALIFICATIONS TO DO BUSINESS IN THIS STATE, CANNOT MAINTAIN AN ACTION IN THE UTAH COURTS UNDER THE LAWS EXISTING AT THE TIME THE CONTRACTS WERE ENTERED INTO OR THE AMENDMENTS THERETO.

Article XII, Section 6, Utah Constitution provides: "No corporations organized outside this state shall be allowed to transact business within this state, on conditions more favorable than those prescribed by law to similar corporations organized under the laws of this state."

CONCLUSION

To allow the Plaintiff in this case to maintain an action in this state against the Defendans and invoke the penalty provision of its private contracts contrary to the express intent of the legislature would not only be contrary to the express clear and unambiguous language of the legislature in denying such dealers access to the Utah courts, under the circumstances it would be contrary. Article XII Section 6 of the Utah Constitution.