Brigham Young University Law School BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (pre-1965)

1964

Thorp Finance Corp. v. F. M. Wright and Alice J. Wright: Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action brought for the replevin of Seven Bermuda Units. The Defendants contend that the said Seven Bermuda Units are motor vehicles and subject to the provisions of Section 3, Title 41, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The Court held that the said seven Bermuda Units were not motor vehicles and granted judgment to the Plaintiff.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The Plaintiff seeks to have the Court affirm the judgment of the District Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

There were numerous hearings in the District Court of Grand County, State of Utah, between the 10th day of June, 1963, and the 10th day of February, 1964. The Defendants called Mr. Ross D. Frandsen of the Utah State Tax Commission as a witness. All other facts were stipulated and undisputed. In addition to the facts stated in Appellant's Brief, the Respondent adds the following:

The said Bermuda Units were each constructed in such a manner that axles and wheels could be placed under them for the purpose of moving them upon the public highways, however, the said Bermuda Units were never equipped with axles and wheels, except when actually being trans-

ported, and no such equipment was ever sold by Mr. George Dannenbaum to the Defendants.

Further, each Bermuda Unit consists of two separate apartments with separate entrances. Each apartment has a kitchen, bedroom, and bath.

All seven of the said Agreements were assigned by Mr. Dannenbaum to the Plaintiff. The Defendant made regular monthly payments on the Agreements until August 1962, then they became delinquent and this suit was brought to recover the said seven Bermuda Units.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY HELD THAT THE SEVEN BERMUDA UNITS WERE NOT INTENDED PRIMARILY FOR OPERATION ON THE PUBLIC HIGHWAYS AND THEREFORE NOT MOTOR VEHICLES AS DEFINED BY SECTION 3, TITLE 41, UTAH CODE ANNOTATED, 1953, AS AMENDED.

- 41-6-2 Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, defines various types of hevicles as follows:
 - "(a) "Vehicle." Every device in, upon, or by which any person or property is or may be transported or drawn upon a highway, except devices moved by human power or used exclusively upon stationary rails or tracks.
 - "(b) "Motor Vehicle." Every vehicle which is selfpropelled and every vehicle which is propelled by electric power obtained from overhead trolley wires, but not operated upon rails."

- 41-6-4 Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, defines various types of trailers as follows:
 - ".... (c) "Trailer." Every vehicle with or without motive power, other than a pole trailer, designed for carrying persons or property and for being drawn by a motor vehicle and so constructed that no part of its weight rests upon the towing vehicle
 - "(d) "Semi-Trailer." Every vehicle with or without motive power, other than a pole trailer, designed for carrying persons or property and for being drawn by a motor vehicle and so constructed that some part of its weight and that of its load rests upon or is carried by another vehicle...
 - "(f) "House Trailer." A trailer or semi-trailer in excess of 1500 pounds gross weight which is designed, constructed, and equipped as a dwelling place, living abode, or sleeping place, either permanently or temporarily and is equipped for use as a conveyance on streets and highways, or....
 - "(g) "Trailer or Semi-Trailer." A trailer or semi-trailer whose chassis and exterior shell is designed and constructed for use as a House Trailer, as defined in paragraph (f), but which is used instead permanently or temporarily for the advertising, sales, display, or promotion of merchandise or service, or for any other commercial purposes except the transportation of property for hire or the transportation of property for distribution by a private carrier."

The Motor Vehicle Act has defined Motor Vehicle, Trailer, Semi-Trailer, House Trailer, separately. It specifically states that a Motor Vehicle is one that is self propelled, and the Utah Court has so held.

In Pacific Intermountain Express Co. v. State Tax Commission, 8 U. 2d 144, 329 P. 2d 650, the Court states as follows:

".... Under the Motor Vehicle Act we find the term Mctor Vehicle, Trailer, and Semi-Trailer, significantly described separately. It states that a Motor V∈hicle is one that is self-propelled. A Trailer is one without motive power drawn by a Motor Vehicle, and a Semi-Trailer is described as a vehicle without active power drawn by a motor vehicle. The last two definitions do not lend themselves to any compelling conclusion that such pieces of equipment are selfpropelled as in the case with the definition of Motor Vevicle. On the other hand, the Motor Vehicle Act. by treating them separately, would indicate an intent not to include trailers and semi-trailers in the term Motor Vehicle. Such conclusion is further substantiated in the section that requires motor vehicles, trailers, and semi-trailers to be registered separately (Title 41-1-19, U. C. A. 1953). If the contention of the tax commission that a truck and a trailer together are a Motor Vehicle, it would follow that the two pieces of equipment would be subject to but one registration. This cannot be done under the registration statute.

"Aside from the statutes themselves, very respectable authority (Hayes Freight Lines v. Cheatham, Okl. 1954, 277 P. 2d 664, 48 A. L. R. 2d 1278; Prudential Ins. Co. of Great Britain v. Associated Emp. Lloyds, supra; Vest v. Kramer, Ohio App. 1951, 111 N. E. 2d 696, where the statute is very similar to Utah's Gendreau v. State Farm Fire Ins. Co., of Bloomington, Ill., 1939, 206 Minn. 237, 288 N. W. 225, contra.) treats a motor vehicle and a piece of tandem equipment as being mutually exclusive at least if they are not actually operational by attachment, and as a unit, — a

problem not presented here. The attitudes of courts that have had the question before them, succinctly are summarized in 60 C. J. S. Motor Vehicles: 1, p. 110, where it is said:

"A trailer or semitrailer is a vehicle, but is not a motor vehicle except that insofar as it facilitates the primary function of a motor vehicle of transporting persons and things, after being attached to the motor vehicle for that purpose, it may be regarded as becoming a party of the motor vehicle, although as to the latter proposition there is also authority to the contrary.

"A New York Case (Hennessy v. Walker, 1938, 279 N. Y. 94, 17 N. E. 2d 782, 784, 119 A. L. R. 1029) holding that trailers and semi-trailers were not motor vehicles, pointed out that:

"Trailers and semi-trailers are vehicles within the meaning of the Vehicle and Traffic Law, ***but they are not Motor Vehicles. The Legislature having defined and classified a trailer and semi-trailer as separate and distinct vehicles, ***it is presumed that it would have referred to them by name had it intended to include them within the provisions of Section 59.

"We approve that the above statement and consider it particularly applicable to our statutes and the definitions therein contained . . ."

The seven Bermuda Units certainly cannot qualify as motor vehicles under the general provisions of Title 41, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended. The question then is whether or not the said Bermuda Units are "Motor Vehicles" as the term is defined by the provisions of 41-3-7 Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended which states:

"41-3-7. Definitions — Motor vehicle dealers' administrator, — Appointment — Supervision by state tax

commission. — The following words and phrases, when used in this act, shall for the purpose of this act, have the meaning respectively ascribed as follows, to wit:

'(a) Motor Vehicle. Every vehicle intended primarily for use and operation on the public highways which is self-propelled; and every vehicle intended PRIMARILY for operation on the public highways which is not driven or propelled by its own power, but which is designated either to be attached to and become a part of, or to be drawn by a self-propelled vehicle; but not including farm tractors and other machines and tools used in the production, harvesting, and care of farm products . . ."

In Charvos v. Bonneville Irrig. Dist., 120 U. 480, 235 P. 2d 780, in interpreting the word "Primary" the Court states:

"The argument that the words 'Primary Cause,' should be interpreted as meaning 'sole cause,' can have no merit since the word 'Primary' cannotes the existance of plurality, while the word 'sole' cannotes the singular."

In construing the language of the statute with the above cited case, one must certainly reach the conclusion that the legislature recognized that there were some items of personal property that may be drawn upon a public highway from time to time by a motor vehicle that would not fall within the provisions of the statute.

In further analyzing the statute, and specifically the phrase "Intended Primarily for Operation on the Public Highways," it is clear that one must look to the use and operation of any vehicle in order to establish its primary purpose. Pacific Northwest Alloys v. State, 306, P 2d 197,

1957, Washington Case, the Court in discussing the words "Primary Purpose," states:

"What do the words "Primary Purpose" mean. A cardinal rule of statutary construction is that the words to be construed must be given their usual and ordinary meaning. State v. Houck, 1949, 32 Wash. 2d 681, 685, 203 P 2d 693; Sandona v. City of Cle Elum, 1951, 37 Wash. 2d 831, 837, 226, P. 2d 889. In Black's Law Dictionary (4th Ed.), "Primary" is designed as first, principal, chief, leading. "Primary Purpose" is defined as "That which is first in intention, which is fundamental."

See also People of the State of California ex rel. Ernest D. Breuning, County Surveyor of the County of Shasta, State of California v. Raymond H. Berry and Scott Lumber Company, a corporation, 304 P. 2d 818.

In consideraing use as an element in determining the primary purpose of the said Bermuda Units in question, one can hardly consider them to be vehicles. From sometime prior to October of 1961 for the five Units and prior to December 1961 for the other two Units, these Units have been on the public highway but two times, and in each of those cases it took special equipment to move them.

In addition to needing special equipment to move these Units, they also have the distinction of being able to house two separate families in the two separate apartments in each Unit, which apartments can be rented at different times and for different periods of time.

The present case is very similar to the Motel Case spoken of by Mr. Ross D. Frandsen from the Utah State Tax Commission, who testified as follows:

"Well, now let me explain that. The specific unit that I was talking about or that we were talking about was a motel that was being constructed in Cedar City, Utah. Now this motel was built out of state and brought into this state with three units of the motel together. They were brought in on three sets of axles and set up as a motel in Cedar City. It's the only one that I know of. Now that was purchased out of state and was brought in along the highway. That is the only one that I know of. That is the specific one." (Page 6 of Tr.)

It is logical to assume from Mr. Frandsen's testimony that The Utah State Tax Commission does not take the rigid position the defendants advocate. That it is necessary to consider the use for which the Units shall be put to before they can be classed as "Motor Vehicles."

POINT II.

THE ASSIGNMENT OF THE SEVEN CONDITIONAL SALES AGREEMENTS BY GEORGE DANNENBAUM, A RESIDENT OF THE STATE OF NEW MEXICO, TO THE PLAINTIFF, AND THE COLLECTIONS MADE PURSUANT TO SAID AGREEMENTS BY THE PLAINTIFF IS NOT "DOING BUSINESS" IN THE STATE OF UTAH, WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE STATUTE.

16-10-102 Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, states in part:

".... Without excluding other activities which may constitute transacting business in this State, foreign corporations shall not be considered to be transacting business in this state, for the purpose of this act, by reason of carrying on in this state any one or more of the following activities:

- "... (g) Creating evidence of debt, mortgages or liens on real or personal property.
 - ".... (k) Acquiring, in transactings (transactions) outside Utah or in interstate commerce, of conditional sale contracts or of debts secured by mortgages or liens on real or personal property in Utah, collecting or adjusting or (of) principal and interest payments thereon, enforcing or adjusting any rights and (in) property provided for in said conditional sale contracts or securing said debts, taking any actions necessary to preserve and protect the interest of the conditional vendor in the property covered by said conditional sale contracts or the interest of the mortgagee or holder of the lien in said security, or any combination of such transactions ..."

See General Motors Acceptance Corp. v. Lund, 60 U. 247, 208 P. 502; East Coast Discount Corp. v. Reynolds, 7 U. 2d 362, 325 P. 2d 853.

CONCLUSION

To allow the Defendants to prevail in the present cause would be a great miscarriage of justice, and would be contrary to the express intent of the legislature. It is very apparent when considering the language used by the said legislature, that there are some items of personal property that may from time to time be attached to a motor vehicle and drawn upon the public highway, that do not fall within the provisions of the statute.

That the seven Bermuda Units are not intended primarily for operation on the public highway and therefore not motor vehicles under the law.

That the Plaintiff Corporation is not doing business in the State of Utah, within the meaning of the statute.

That judgment should be affirmed and Plainiff should recover its costs.